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nobody answered his questions or even attempted to polemize with him. It
was generally though that he stuck his nose into affairs that d4id not con-
cern him,

Depending on the points discussed, the Politburo would sometimes invite
people whose rank was never below that of Vice-Minister, Ambascador or Com-
mercial Councillor. Compared to Government members who were ''well'' acquain-
ted with the matters discussed, other Politburo members were rather passive
viewers and listeners. loreover, thev did not even tw to hide their bore-
dom with the things dicusced.

Sometimes only, Wtadvslaw Xruczek, Chairman of the Central Council of
the Trade Union, an old member of the Communist Party of Poland, a deeply
pro-Soviet dogmatist and an unhelievable blockhead, would... ''sneak up'’'.
Suddenly, without any reference to anvthing or without anyv argument, he
would ask :

‘'~ And couldn't we raice the wages?'' He never motivated hig '‘'answers
and pronouncements''. He probably knew that people were complaining about
wages, so he thought that he, the representative of the ''Trade Union'',
took care of the working class... Well, after all, he did represent it in
the Politruro! In principle, nobody would even bother to answer. His ques-
tions, by the way, were pronounced in a weeny voice and were addres=ed not
to a particular person but to the surrounding space. And he, satisfied
with having ''presented'' the problem, would put a stupid smile on his face
and remain silent until the end of the debate. I sometimes noticed that
Jézef Tejchma, just as silent, would sometimes have big probtlems with re-
pregsing ironic smiles after each one of ¥ruczek's'interventions'. 411 the
others also made queer faces or didn't even notice anything.

Only once, Gierek really exploded with anger after Kruczek broke in. t'hen
the latter, once again, ''nresented’'' the question of wages, Gierek roared
at him :

"'~ Wiadek /diminutive form of Kruczek's first name/, stop screwing up
thece wages! Do you want us to collapse?...'' I have never seen Glerek ag
enraged as that. Kruczek became gilent and hie face was that of an admoni-
shed brat. Presently, he certainly goes around Warsaw, telling people that
he had offered certain things for consideration during the Politburo deba-
tes and that he had even quarelled over them with Cierek...

Soemtimes only, some of the invited guests from the governmental organs
took the floor shortly or gave additional explanations. Discussions, as
such, were non-existent during the Politburo debates. lobody went into any
gingle one of the discussed matters, did not attempt to question anything

and, as it was currently said in the PPF, the matters were rattled off.
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Only Jagielski pronounced himself from time to time but he rather explai-
ned the matters. They were mostly ''bred'' by him, so what was he to dis-
cusg?

After this queer discussion-debate would come to its end, the Prime ¥i-
nister, Piotr Jaroszewicz, would speak. e did this with a lot of energy
and his voice was that of a person accepting no opposition. Only once Szyd-
lak intended to say something and Jaroszewicz reduked him like a simple
whipper-snapper. He was known for his explosiveness. However, he calmed
down after a while and gaid :

''- Forgive me, Janek''/ Szydlak's first name/.

''- It's no deal,'' answered the other.

It is worth mentioning that Jaroszewicz alwayvs came to the debates with
the original edition of a manula written by some Soviet economist. I some-
how never figured out the author, or even the title of the book. In or-
der to confirm some theses of his, Jaroszewicz would sometimes crv out :

"'-Wait! Wait! I will prove this to you right away!'' and he would
feverishly search his book for the suitable quotation. I do not recall his
finding it even once...

After Jaroszewicz, it was always Gierek who took the floor. Hig speech
was mostly reduced to the summary of the debate which he read from my pa-
per. And then, everything was over. Nobody would speak after him. The
resolution projects were not discussed, either. They were approved by cir-
culation or they found their way to the following detate. The approval to-
ok place without any discussion or reading of documents.

So, these were the famous Politburo ''debates'' which, according to Gie-
rek and othere, kept the whole Nation waiting breathlessly. I cannot say
that the intentions were bad. No, they were gyen good. If somebody would
have invented some sort of machine that wouldVchanged good intentions of the
Politburo into actions, people in the PPR would have mavbe even led quite
a good life., Tut such a machine hac never been invented and never chall be.
It is the people who are this machine. In the PPR, however, ac in all Com-
munist countries, nobody asks their opinion and, therefore, various reso-
lutions cannot be realized or they =imply complicate peoples' lives.

I often told at home and to some of our friends, that these Polithuro
"'works'' made me think of children plaving bakerv. It cannot he said that
the kiddies do not work a lot,in their bakery,when thev make bread out of
gand. Cnly that this bread cannot be eaten,..

I also mentioned that I listened to deliberations concerning other,

non economic,agenda items. Once, I even assisted a discussion concerned

with the state of ''national security''. The matter was related by Franci-



szek Szlachcic, the then Pinister of Interior./of Internal ~Affairs, as

we gay in Polish/. Evervthing in this field was ''good'', although the
perpetrators and the rezsons of the btlowing up of a library room in Opole
=till remained unknown. The then present Deputy Minister of Interior,
Stachura, added only that two brothers, probablv the culprits were arres-
ted, but that the investigation was s=till going on /it was later confirmed
that they were guilty/. Fesides that, the country was ''calm'’, everything
was under the surveillance of the vigilant eve of the 7ilitia and the Secu-
rity Police.

Szlacheic praiged the chemical industry for supplving the Mili
disabling gas sprays. He also demanded death penalty for group r
and announced that, ''together with the 7Z-II MMilitary Intelligence, we
are reinforcing intelligence activities in the Yest.'' There was practi-
cally no discussion over this agenda point. Cierek only praised Szlachcic
and the Ilinistry of Interior for their ''hard and responsible'' work and
that wae it.

Questions of Poland's defensiveness have never been discussed at the Po-
litburo. They were agreed upon in a tight circle composed mainly of Gierek,
Jaroszzewicz, Jaruzeleki and Kania, Some people maintained that these ques-
tions were practically settled by Jaruzelski alone, directly with IMoscow.
They would then add that ''Wojciech /Jaruzelski/ has an antenna tuned in
to loscow and that he listens only to that''.

In the course of the debates, or after them, there wag a break for the
so-called second-breakfast snack. No alcohol was served and the choice of
foods was rich. There was a wide variety of butcher's oroducts, hot black
pudding, vastries, fruit, coffee, tea, juices and mineral water. The wai-
tresses collected the dishes and poured the hot drinks. It was then, during
these snacks that the interesting discussions took place. They were much
more engaging than the ones held during the Politburo debates., Tven though
there was a certain discipline, they were rather free. Gierek and Jarosze-
wicz were the ones who spoke the most and the latter even more than the for-
mer, Cthers also broke in. These discussions mostly consisted of caping
one another's stories concerning the knowledge of various details. These
people knew everything, or at least, they thought they did. On that occa-
gion it was possible to learn many interesting things. Yet, details domi-
nated. “ome of the guests were also invited for these breakfasts. I remem-
her how Franciszek ¥aim, then Vice Premier, who was one of the invited
guests, argued very eeriousgly that it was impossible to make good tileg in
Poland. Nobody polemized with him everybody accepting this as a sad truth,

Since Xaim was =itting opposite me, I acked him whether pre-war Poland pro-
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duced good tiles /ac a2 matter of fact, they were excellent and are =till
a very much sought for article after all these years; unfortunately there

are not too many that remain
''- Tverything that was produced then was good'' ceriously renlied ¥aim.

Generally speaking, the atmosphere of these breakfasts was that of great
optimism, Tverything in the country was calm and what was done ''at the top"'
was intelligent... there was a rapid increace in the production, the market
supplies were improving, foreign credits and technology began flowing in

and even the harvests were good. In the “tate Planning Commission it was
being =szid that '' we have a boom and we have to keep it going...''

/These were the words of the Commission's Deputy Chairman, H.Kisiel, who
pronounced them when talking with me./

ind =o, they told jokes, burst out laug ghing for no reazson and everyhody
worshiped Gierek. The fact that first symptoms of tensions hegan showing
did not seem to matter. Why! Lverything was going forward!

Cne of the first syvmptoms was that, the production of industrial articles
of consumption, for example, was growing much too clowly, whereas the nopu-
lation's income was rapidly increasing. A1l this, combined with the freeze
of food prices, was becoming more than problematic. Things were no better
with many industrial products whose prices were also frozen. I therefore
provoked a discuscion on this issue with Gierek. He said that he knew it
all very well and that he had alreadv... taken care of it. Astonished how
he could have managed such a thing, I outrightly asked him about it.

"'~ Well, together with Piotr /Jaroszewicz/, we wrote a letter to the
workers in order to urge them to give an additional production of industrial
market products for 25 billion z}otyvs...'' CGierck answered the most seriou-
g¢ly in the world.

I was dumbfounded. I knew about the so-called ''Party deeds'' and ''pro-
duction commitments'' since years, Well, I even participated in them. People
were well aware of the hipocrisy involved. "inistries, factories, national

councils and different organisms were informed beforehand that these deeds

will be undertaken on various occasions. The same concerned ''commitments'"',
Foreseeing this eventuality, the concerned organisme alwaye left a maneu-
n in their production,plans and their yvearly acsignments. Lo-

due to the fact that things were
1¢ righ time and with greater expen-

[

i
red earlier, the production targets were later caught un with. The net
c

t was then nil, or rather negative,

oy

bously, in big haste, not in t
diture. The =ame thing was then obtained at a much higher cost. Put the
state and the Party leadership were extremely fond of these ''commitments''

and '‘'deeds''. They were all frantic when their appeals were echoed by
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recponses from the ''bottom'' or when the masses came out, on their own,
with the initiative of "helping" the leadership.

) . -
And, above all, such a WOTKFP?' approzch to the question, such a ''Party
cconony'' demented various learned theories. Thev showed that '‘'workers'

handeg'"'
technology, qualifications, etc.
By the

could do miracles,

o1
)

ame token, televicion

contrary to the demandse of work organization,

and radio publicity of the Party and the

Gtate leacdership, and even of their wives, was massively launched. The pat-
terns of this advertising were fixed and the veople could see that the leader-

ship did not chun the shovel! Therefore, when hearing Gierek mention the
"'letter to the crews'', I really felt dicheartened. I had no wish to answer

even to a2rgue with

e

or
in the
reasonable discussion.
T
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care about teing cured.

- In any case, he believed that he had evervthing under care, th=2t he un-
derstood everything and that there wam no reason to be anxious. That was
my impression althoucgh hie words, ''if only we were 2lone'', still rang in
my ears., On the other hand, he did not let anvthing show that this prob-
lem tormented him in any way. Znd I did not want to provoke a discussion
on this subject in his office. Fe himself has never come out with =such a

pronocition.

It ¢ worth mentioning some o

t

her discuszions we had, It was a fact that
ted at zome 20 thousznd vehicles and this

@

the chortage of buzeg was estima
made 1life very difficult for millions of peonle in the PPR. Domestic pro-
duction of ''"an'' and ''Jelcz'' buses was not only far from being cuffi-
cient, but it was also obsolete. “omething had to he done and the idea of
a2 foreign licence came to mind, The Yinlistryv of T gi-a ring Industry was

recelving different foreisn bids, the most interesti of which were, ac-
cording to me, those of the est Cerman ¥I'D and the Hungarlan "*Ikarues'’.
f= far as the first of these »p

ter Councillor of the “oviet Tmbassy in Jarsaw, was persuading me that this
c

provozsitions wag concetnsd, “abarin, 'inic-

)]

would be the best bus for Poland, since it had a very modern enzine teing
part of NATC armament. The UTR would be, he continusd, very interested in
buying any number of these engines from the PPR. He even mentioned that they
would be ready to import approximately... 500 thousand of those engines

and of their spare parte! This number was shocking to me, but it was the

o]
)
]
oy

he put forward.
Pergonally, the Hungarien offer was moere to my liking. ''Ikarus'' was a
known trade mark throushout the world and ungary was, at that time

ready, probably the world's biggest bus exporter., The bus was solid, with

o
ot
i’D}—'

a LA engine and, htegldes, the Hungarians had plans for modernizing the
buseg and the plante producing them. And, moreover, Fungarians counted on
deeper ties with the PPR for other reasons. The ''father'' of the llungarian
economic reform, Zcononmic ~Affairs “ecretary of the Hungarian Central Com-
nittee, Iiyvers, paid a visit to Poland in order to diccuse this question
with the authorities of the PPR., Cur embassy in Zudapest also supported

the idea of 2 deeper cooperation with lungary. » very good renort on that

kp)

case, prepared by Klosiewicz Junior, was enough to harm the cace /the 2u-

thor of the report was the son of former Chairman of the Trade Union, Zve-
nunt XX

“'vf’. ) v'. L’.’ 33 '31" i }\‘« i > . :
oslewlcz, with whom Cierek had bad relatlons/.offlc1g
other hand, I ¥new that Cierek wes to vay avieit to France and

]

it war higs intention to huy the Zerliet bue, As it was the custom, im-

t economic agreements and contracts had to crown such official visits
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abroad or the viesits of foreigners in the PPR, VWrzaszyk, the then (linicter
of ngineering IndLstry, got wind of this and, in order to attract Gie-
rek's eympathy, hecame an ardent sunporter of Terliet. A4 ''Ierliet lobby''
was even created.

I raised the whole subject during discusceions I had with Cierek. KHe then
confirmed that, ves, he was soinz to Trance and that he intended to buv
the Teriliet. v reply was that there was no need to make gifte on the
occasion of official visitz, but he didn't even listen. “o, he did ''buy'’
Terliet., And presently, the PPR imports... ''Ikarucs''. It is interesting
to mention that there were supnosed to be 5 thousand Terliets vproduced

early, In 1682, there were only ... lthousand of them onroduced after
the introduction of over 140 alterations in the construction! The entire
nroduction is threatensd with dieruption. fs a detail, I =should like to
add that, when Gierek viasited the Terliet production nlant in a bug of
thelr production, the vehicle broke down. Tut Gierek was not superstit_ous.

Le one can see, my discuscions with Gierek were numerous and concer-
ned many different subjects., Their exhausting description would have no
csense and would take too much place. I shall mention come more of them

further in the text. The examples I quoted served only to show their pro-

11 in 211, these discusnions did not bring about any results. Looking
2t them from the perenectivz of more than 10 years, I think that I was

[
D

risght when trving to versuads him in this or other matter, or when dra-

,...lc

wing his attention to certain matters or even attempting to dissuade him

from undertaking certain stens. One of such actions that I undertook con-

D

cernad the production of ''Tarnan'' /Polish version of a pick-un truck/.

I had the occacion of =zeing its prototype and admired the zeal of its
congtructors and producers. True, that such a vehicle lacked in Poland.
Zut then , thie one was quite an incredible little monster and did not au-
gure any honegs of exploitztion or of sconomic rentability or even affor-
ability,

Gierek, thousgh, did not want to talk about this matter finding it un-

(o}

worthy of attention.

e also took un the question of the Fizt 12%4v price. The production was
just being launched, I chall not enter here into 2ll the details of this
story and shall not rensat 2ll the revelations I heard on this subject.

)

(l]

I wac not there when it all hapoened and, anyway, I had no influences on
the course of events., It all hepnened prior to my advisorshin., 411 I can
add is that T did not quite =ece the economic sense of purpose for a mass

kS

o)
production of passcenger cars in the PPR, at its stage of development. -ut
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it henpened. In any case, 1C00 emall Piate were to leave the assembly line.

ot
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T lesrned that rzaszczy nersuaded Gierek that their nrice <hould
n

40 thougand zlotys /

early 30 monthly salaries constituted this sun/ and
that thev should te =o0ld on coupons, The production was then to rise gra-
dually, rut it was =till far from satiefving the demand. The interest
the neople had for the small Fiat was enormous.
To me, it appeared as ohrvious that ths price, on the free dom e=tic mar-

¥et will »e much higher and that the coupons will hecome the ohject of

rrites and of favouritism. So I proposed to Cizrek, and I think that I
even wrote a paper on this subject, that the emall Fiat ghould Te sold

on the Tacis of auction, whether directly or hy corres pondence, This
meant that the price would have depended on how much people were ready
to nav, I was against the coupons.

“ut Cierek did not sgree with this. The coubons were nrecerved and the
nricz wag increaced to... 4C thoussnd zlotye. Cn the free market, the car

houeand ztotyve. And =o, Vrzasznczy WOnN. The counons were

e
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the o%ject of trade. According to accusmations against rzaszczy, eVen he

Today, wher T
cand z}otve and that on the free market it is
jeve that the price had risen that much cimultaneously with the rise in

ths nroduction. “ut this may not 1act for too long. I learned that the

read that the officail price of the small Fiat is 250 thou-
200 thousand, I cannot be-

1

nroduction of the small Fiat may come to an end.

ind vet, in spite of this= not <o encouraging exnerience with Gierek,
T would r2 untrue if I said that I did not like him. I was persuaded that

entions were sood and that he did want to improve the living stan-

arde of the Eation. It ie vet another thing that he did not know how

do it or that, ‘he thought he ¢did. "ierek ie probably one of the most
rasic figures in Polish post war history up to the Jaruzelslki neriod.
e did want 2 ''“econd Poland'', even if 1t was to be "ropcialistt?
and nro-Toviet. Despite of that, it was to te a wealthy one, with high-
ways, retter apartmente, cars, motels and even Fforeign tripe and =ome 1li-
hertiea unknown under his predecessors, le cincerely wanted the people
to ecat well and so, in 1974, he launched the ''Feed the Nation'' nrogram.

’hen compared to Gonmuika, or even Gehab and Kaniza, without mentioning
“ierut, he was certainly the most nositive of them all. “ierut carried
out the stalinization of Poland and signed death sentences, even though
he sometimes had some intervale of humaneness. Tierut's nositive feelings
did not only avply to Gomulka and his companions, hut 2lso to the zace of
rut
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death sentence, "1
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Polish aviation, Colonel Ttan



withheld. /Skaleki himeelf told me ahout thie./ Tierut did the same with
"ntoni ieda, hero of the Home Army who wags known under the pseudonvm of

"'fzary'' and others., Gomulka, deesnite come attempts to oppose loscow,

digtinguiched himeelf with primitiviem, exaggerated ascetism and impudence
I I refused to condemn him tut, when in 1242, I had the occasion

of epending £ long hours in his company, I was deeply shocked by hi
vere at power for too chort a period of

]

>

nenlightenment. Ochab and ¥ania

time to permit a full evaluation.
Just ac with Fierut, I had the occasion to see Cchab closely. I =lo

haerd him speak. I think that his and Pierut's intelligence outgrew that
of Gisrek, but their hands were not clean. Comuika's intelligence, did

not match that of Gierek, hut hie stuhorness was far greater. Kania, whon
I met more closely, certainly had no character traits of a leade
The former had an

.

i

aring fGierek with Jaruzelsgki

ter and was far more pnositive than the latter.

r , ithirety instincts in Zierek despite the ''Trea-
of Tones'' nroclaimed by him in 1968 /I already mentioned this inci-

o
ent/. He was, of course, 2 Communict and a loyalist of Moscow, tut at

de

the szms time, he was quite tolerant., ¥e agreed to reconstruct the Roval

Castle in Wareaw, a plan to which Comuitka was vehemently opposed. Vith

Jierek at the head of the Partyv, Poland was more than ever obened towards
t

Ile appeased many conflicts with the Church and worthily welcomed

i
Pone John Paul II. I know for cure that Primate “tefan vszynski had a good

ring around the world irritated many peobnle
ut not only did hs so'popularize the PP" in the world, bhut he
aleo neopularized Poland. Thesge trips underlined a =sort of independence
from "occow., This was the case of his confidential eveball to eyeball
"*t21% on.the hoat'' with Swedich Prime Yinister Clof Palme, an incident
which wae far from the liking of [loscow. The world wanted to receive Cie-
rek, Tithout mentioning France, even the U%A invited him to "'ashington,
T,C. and Preeident Carter regan his foreign vicits, after becoming pre-

aident, with the PPR,

0
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rek azdopted an enigmatic
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If we advance in tims, it must he =ai
attitude towards the “oviet invasion of Afghanistan. And when he =aw, on
the televicion news, ilenrvk Jaroszek, Polich Ambzczador to the U, defend
hecame irritated and recalled

t

he invasion and charply attack the UY, he
o ’

him,
ed that 211 con-

iev
flicte with the ation could e recolved tahnks to ''political mean='"'.
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“hen, in June 1674, some struggles did take place in Fadom and in Urcus,
he forbade the use of firearms., It is true that the brutslityv of the 70
/7ilitia/ and Z0v0 /Iechanized TUnits of ilitia/ was undeniatle. The so-
called 'health paths' and the two mortal victims did not constitute the
best evidence for Gierek. *ut compared to his nredecessers and to Jaruzel-
a%i, 2ll this was nothing.

I saw these positive traite of Tierek's character, although some of themnm
revealed themselves only after mv departure. Therefore, I sincerelv wanted
to help him., I even think that he liked me and willingly undertook% various
discusesions with me. True, that they did not lead to anything, but =till,
thev did take place. Were it not for certain events, which I chall yet dees-
crive, I would have remained with him regardless of numerous disillusion-
ments. Mavbe, with time, it would have heen vossible to convince hip of the
goo of certain moves. ile was tecoming more and more hzughty and this, in
spite of all the accessibility, rendered contacts with him difficult. "ut
even that would not have discouraged me,

After I left my advisorship to him, I heard various rumors atout his at-
titude towards many questions. I helieved them. Thie concerned, for example,
the fact that he did not let himself te talked into the dectruction of KCR

. - illega .
Committee of Yorkers' Defenge/, of thé%%n%g%endent trade unione and even

of I'Pli /Committee of Independent Poland/ . I t is difficult to imagine that
if he would have wanted to destroy them, that he could not have done it.

He wags informed ahout evervthing in thie matter. I can even repnort =ome of
the details concerning this procedure. Cnce, as I was talking with Gierek,
the then "inister of Interior, Ccienka, called him., iHe informed Gierek that
Chelchowki /former Politburo member/ was once again organizing some shady
meeting. CGierek ordered that the man should be further shadowed, If Zierek
was informed about the activities of CheXchoweki, =0 I cannot imagine that
he was not informed atout others. The affairs were ''under glass''., Not
evervthing was orobably known, but certainly a lot.

“ome mysterious deaths, as for exzmple, that of Pvjas /ctudent of the Uni-
versity of Cracow/, may have been organized without Gierek's knowledge. The
security services constitute 2 state inside the state. I am not even certain
whether, after the death of Ociep¥%a, the new Finister of Internal Affiare,
“tanistaw ¥owalczvk, knew for himself what was going on behind his back,

I'e was a friend of Cierek and a non-nrofessional in this field.

Cne chould know that, in the PPR, it ie not only the security nolice which
acte with impunitv, but also the ¥3% and the CGRU /“oviet "ilitarv Intelli-
gence/. Thev conduct intelligence and counterintelligence actions, as well

ac other dirty jobs. Concerning Pyjas, it is worth adding, on this occasion,
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that during hies funeral and the ensuing demonstration, the “ecurity Police
was unakle to count:the narticinants. Thev were then helped by a ... “oviet
satellits which, flving over Cracow, counted every single one of the parti-
cipantes...
After 2ll, it was under Giersk that '“olidarity' was creted. Fven though,
he warned in hie TV-radio apvearance of ~ugust 18, 1¢8C, that something like
that wae impossitle, he finallyv did agree to its creation.
Gierek was, of course, not an intellect. However, he did not identify him-
self with dogmatice. Inside the Party, he did not introduce any 'ironclad
diccipline' which is now the dream of his successors, He did not pay atten-
tion to 'ideological education', although, at the end of his term, Jerzy
fukaszewicz, the rather stunid “ecretary of Propaganda of the Central Tonm-
mittee, promoted various radio programs such as ''The Cne''., It wag aimed at
landering the “eet. And, as far as I know, this was the result of accords
ide the 'Socialist Community' framework.

Gierek homself did not attempt to pose as a!%heoretician". It would be
worthwhile illustrating this with an example.

In the course of preparations for the Ath PP Congress in TDec
T was in the team elaborating “ierek's report. “eizing this opportunity, I
wanted to talk Cierek into two things.

The firet was an analvsis of the inernational situstion. The developing
monetarv crisis as well as other svmptoms of tencions in the world economy
and international trade, put, into mv head, the idea that thies was the
occagion for saying something about the new chances for Fast Yest coonera-
tion. A coovneration which would tend towaeds the solution of prohlems common
to all of humanity. This was supposed to he in the context of a ''peaceful
coexistence'', apparently =o, at least, for what I actually had on mind
wags a convergence, -

ierek reacted negatively to my persuasions. He answered that, for these

thines, t
added tha

his reasons and did not press.

G =

ere is the Communist Party of the U"R and not the PPR. Ie evan
h

e would not 1like to have any nrotlems because of this. I understood

The other problem concerned something elee, that is, putting forward, be-
fore the PUYP, the tacsk of building a ''socialist cociety of mass consump-
tion''. Although Giersek talked about a ''life in plenty'' of the cociety,
concumption, as such, was still identified with ''consumeriem'' /one can
prezs=ntly not 2 return to this very term in the U?°R/. Tven the Zoviet
Communist Party and other Parties of the ''Community'' began to suddenly pro-

i
claim the construction of 2 ''developed socialist society'' /in the USSR, it

was supposed to alresady have existed/.
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Hence, it occured to me that thie was the occasion for wider treatement
of the question as well 2s for rehatrilitation of consumption as such. The
production was to rise quickly, it s=emed, hut its =02l was still not clear
hecause of the ohscure role of consumption in the Cros National Product.
Consumption needs were incessantly identified with ''consumntion attitudes''
and thie, in itself, had a pejorative mening.

“ut Gilerek did not accept even this proposition. e told me outrisht that
he did not consider himself 2 theoretician of larxism-Leniniem and that he
didn't even want to te one., If the cquection of consumption rezlly necessi-
taes 3 new outlook, he caid, =o let the other parties do it. I'e then added
that it i hetter to do these thingas than to overtly proclaim them,

Inwardly, I even admitted that he was right. 211 that I managed to intro-

T

duce into his report was a vascage about the ''productivity of the ZXP'' ,

<t

which was to emphazize not only the percentage growth tut also the quality
of the growth iteelf, However, I did not manage to explain this matter mo-
re wicdely, Zut Gierek wanted to throw out even that.

'hat elee can I sayv atout Gicrek?

I think that, in normal democratic conditions, he would have

-

reen a union

activist, or even a nolitical activiet, Tut surelv, he would not have beco-
me a lesder, even though, he certainly had the traits of one.

Vet, in th catellite =svetem of centralized power, he did grow into a lea-
der and, 2z it hapnens, under thece conditions, he reamained at his post by
the fo
ierek on the ha=ies of non-formal
n ult for me to talk about other traite

c d I have the occasion for something that could
contact. It wae on the occasion of the prepzaration

) for the “th Congresc of the FPUYP, Gierek propo-
o sive the text 2 final nolicsh, I <hould join
ther team members in Ia2+%sk, I went there in a snecial car.

57ek ie a rest center of the Turecsu of the Cahinet and is situzted in

the Ramvuck Foreste in the 0leztyn province at the hoard of Lake Tardsk. It
cerved only some of the few choren, that is, not lower than members and al-
ternate membere of the Polithuro and Vice-Premiers. Important ''“oviet gues-
ta'', especially ¥.Vatushev, 2also came there quite often. That's why the

elf served, in the nast, =some

arca wag ''militarily secure''. The center i

3 ot
0

D

German ailms and wzs to bhe develoned later. The nlzce is charming, the center

{

masnificent, There is an indoor swirming nool and other facilities.

Thoe mentioned team waes comnosed of Clerek, Olozoweki, Jaruzeleki, “zlach-
bl

cic, Werhlan, Frelzsk, “agzcezuk and myself, Frelsk was the main "'writer'',
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e wers all informally dresced. Only Jaruzelelki wore some military trousers
and 2 gimilar sweater.

Since I am presently touching unon the subjsct of the report, I must no-
te that there had been nractically no discussion about it. Cnly ¥erblan re-
called that heei

Toviet nation'', heczuse the “oviet

ez mentioning the USTR we must absolutely add ''the great

DJ

comrades like this...
Olezoweki aleo wanted to add something and he even called Zzyvdlak on
the nhone, but the latter blew hirm up and, with tears in his eyes, Clazow-
cki repeated evervthing. Jiers¥% then advised him to call Tejchma.
“ylacheic, too, had some %ind of rectificaztion, but fin=2lly, he did not
tnow which ons and he dropned the whole thing.
"hen we had finishad working on the text, Guersk nroposed that we should

celebrate this with soms cocnac., e even went comswhat to pieces, Him wife

“taniclawa, whom I zaw for the first time, came in drecsed in 2 pzair of
nantg.

‘ut the reason for which Zierek went to pieces was ormutka., i'e told
us atout sgome of the nrohlems he had had with him in the past, especially

ca=~ion of the conctruction of the”highway"leeﬂing to thes “atowice
rt and the srection of the ''In~urectional Deed'' monument. 211 this was

olozue. Theothers lictened and nodded only. “uddenly, Gierek =tood
un and bid us farswwell

“ence, it ie difficult for me to give a ch
]

3
enective and it is now worth to renece

2 perconz2l ner

Jierek's unofficial and official

ouched unon this subject, but I

o
“han in February 1072, I vieitad oscow /I =hall descri

o) discuscsion in the CC of the Toviet Co
nist Zarty, the Soviets mentioned the subject of the Mursk =teszl mill plant.
T t2l¥ed atout it with Zierek unon my return to arsaw,

chould sav here that, in ‘oscow, I was asked when the leadership of

finally to decide about ite participation in the construction
nlant and aktout ite nertial ~unnly with coke. The nlant was supnoced
zient with 2 vearly production canability of 20 hillion tons of

‘Serek exnlained to me that instead of nzrticipating in the con=truction
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v

of the Tursk plant, we were to evect our own oteel-mill ' 'Yatowice'', Ve

added that Silecian =teel-mille were 3in need of modernization anvwav, There

waes, howevar, a onroblem with the conetruction of ths Yroad-cauee rzilway
o}

which was to supnly the atenl-mill - “oviet ore. ‘nd in thic, ho ~=sid,

7it!
certain “oviet comrades were veryv interasted,'' T immediztely understood
r

Glerek and, ineids, I acrezd with him., It wae hetter to hove = gtez2]l-mill

in Polsnd than in Kursk.., Joreover, the way Glerek told we this, left me
with the impreesion that he wanted others to ¥now shrout this.

I only added, just in cace, that it would bhe mavbhe better to conestruct
ceveral =1

leetiic mini-steel-nille in the vicinity »f metz2lursic and
t

ries wvhere one can slwaye find scran-metal., “ut this wars not

T the eteel-mill's location or
n in egsneral, v imnpression is

o)
*d to shirk the Toviet nressures and ''bought'' ths ¢
t 3

0
nt for constructing a stratscic Toviet railway.,

T

he solution was not the best ons, hut mayvbe better than the Yursk one.
“ome time later, I was at a recention in the “oviet "mhageyv, orcanized
o)

on the occasion of the sisnins of accords for the conetruction

]

{0

steel-mill, Tkatchov, Chairman of the Cormittee for Tconomic Coopera-~
tion of the USZR with ibroszd, who eisned the a2ccord on the “oviet 2ide,

muid then thet, while eigninz the accord his ''ruks zadrozhals' ! /his hand

trembled/... e did not overhlow it in thie very case,

In any case, Gierek certainly had various nrotlems with hie “oviet man-
o ? “ -
datories, Toviet ‘mbassador, “.Pilotovich and even I'inicter-Councillor

D
1]

{

Labarin, often met with hinm, “1ill, Cierek has nover revealed thege nrob-

o
e

"

-}

2 and I could only ~uess them from brihes of conversatio:
o

o)
Afterwards, when I had already left him, I learned that, in 1974, while

conducting talke with Thivkov in Zaids¥, he had categorically reojected the

ition of Zhiv¥ov to hesin the creastion of a ''Comrunict Party of the
Tocislizt Community''. e prohahly knew that this was not Thivkov's con-
ception. Tven thourh, he did give in to “oviet preseures and, in 1075,
introcduced amendments to the Conetitution of the PP2 on the auection of
the ''leadine role of the Poartv'' and the ''Tolono-"ov

i
that Primate “tefan "vezmadeki

was =111l not enoush for the “ovieta, True,

playad an imnortent role hers bhut, after 211, the fina2l word helonsed to
Cizrel

'ned during the Jth PUVP2 Concress in Tebrusry 1020 and afterwards,
1

anpe
1+ nhell descrite later on., Tut presently, I would
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—

th 2 more zeneral reflection. I regreted that Jierelr did not

i re
hint mere than he ¢id., I wae 2lro not very certain how nmuch he reallyv wan-
e

PPR and the UFIDR,

ted to chance the relations hetween th

rad I felt that he wae smeeking come heln or 2dvice, I would have never
igl

nrasented my resiznation from the advisorshin post. nfortunztsly, I had
reazsons to btelieve th2t hs did not count on 2nv heln from me in this mat-
v, Ve zhall vet resume this suhject.

Jierek 1i¥ed to tal% a2hout details which

h
Thie, howvevzr, w2s 2 common charscter trait of 211
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a
hten anyvone, They wanted to know every-
thins and they
I would 1 o mive an examnle of this, Tconomists from the Institute

+

lon Trade znd laritime Tconomy,

e wae 120 thousand zi

tve, The Fla2t, morcover, was inaccesgeible
< R h

nle, whereas hansnas chould have heen =zccessiblse,
+ 57

intoreated, ith cadnecss

=

To mv oreat astonichment, Giszrek hecame vividlw

1,

2lmont, he conceded that he =omehow did not ¥now ahout this... 2 even nro-

mi=ad to take care of the auestion, = for 22 I know, there was no result,

hut it ie 2 fzet that he tried
1

tool place whan more accentia

L

attend to such detaile, *‘nd 211 thic
vac my irprassion.
Depnits thie, I was loval to Tiere%, I did not mention our discussions

ol

¢
him,’hen doing <o, I wz2s not

to snvhody, and, if I did, I enoksz well of oing
guided Ly hinocrizy. I waps eimply aware of the f2ct that I did not have an-
ouzh information for nrofound judgemente, Therafore, I wae not in a hurry

i

o
to share my remarke, "hat I thourht was mv own and T was cars
pronounecarents,

Concerning this lovalty, I will »nut forth an example.
L 2lreacdy mentionad that once, durins a DPolithuro debate, ons of the =2zen-
d=

/otherwice, of Interior/. I had met “zlechecic earlizr znd when he caw me

o}

inte wac renorted ty “zlecheic, the then Tinieter of Internal ‘ffeire

2t the debate, he renroschsd me with not having n2id him 2 vieit., Ze even

invited me to come and =sea him, "11 this hannened nrior to the 4th PUR
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‘enting to he loval towards Tierek, I a2sked him whether T should =e
mortunity of the invitetion and »ayv a vieit to “zlacheic

is here was the [linister of Interior and T did not want Cierek

that I meet with such neonle heohind hie back., Contacts on thie level
ones th=t were bound to he commented unon.

"'~ ¥You can zo. Comrade Tzlachecic is a very <o

0
cven 211 confidentially that he will Te chosen to ths Polithuro during the
] t 7

d comething

uncoming Concress, le will =2le in
ny Deputy't, Glerelk told me.
It hannenad z¢ he gaid, After ths ConvreAs, “zlachcic cam= to work

Committee, Te immedistely

himneal o ut ¢ hat we ~hould ''ge
and put ordsr around here'', Thies curnriced me, I was not ce

o
e waes not nutting to test my lovalty to Glerek., Just in case

crtake thice subizet with “zlacheic hut I alsgso did not run to

on
Thig incident onlv heishtenad my frustretion., If th

ie
*ihle to have = conmon Front of even 2 Ffraction of the

i
leadarshin, in foco of loocow? "Thom wag it noss
1

’:’1

Tut, in the final count, this only hastensd my dacicion of nresentin

It co honnened thet during my manyr-vesre-long 2ffilistion to the Po
orlkera' Party and then, the PP, I did not hsve the occesion of nar
vating in eny CC Plenum or Congress, althoush I did particinzte in v=

conventiclas, from the lowest noscihlz level on to the nvo

ih
lved in =ome insicdiovs groun manoeuvres, I nrefaered to ram:

11,

ike

to the

rtzin
, I did

iersk
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was nrovided hy lohhvine efforte and other lunchtime-mecti ng=. “hat wa=s when

I met 7.0rudeied who wae to entor the Polithuro comnosit on durine the
e Ty . . . . .
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rect, that CrudzisA wae to

rous ﬁisbutzs, thev dacided, 1Ff my memory iz o
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of the Provinci=l Tommittse
from Cracow, theez were thz most imnortant
cucetions,
rusrete, with L, "rezhnev at their head, were vet
2in attrzction. Tor me,
211 p@ﬁTv knovm, but certain nzople t2llkad

prises az, whom will ''he'' /Brezhnev/ ''chose'’

12t time, he £till looked very well.

cenared an authentic ovation for him, “nd when

hie report, turned hackwarde
nevy who vas =itting hehind =2n oleveted t2ble, the latter held out his
‘nd Cicrelk, ths huce chan, was
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to ''put thincs straicht''in the D027,
mortant nart of the “th Coneress took nla

The most
corricdore, It war there that neonlzs vould meet and diccues

The here were richly nrovided 2nd various talts tool

0
‘nd thers, in the main hall and in the roome, verious

— 1, - - 3~
nd many of them kelisved thet thev are =o

~ort hes comaethine of a circus to it. Iut

congresses of rulin~ Communict Partics are the

thie concerne the zctore 28 well =« the viswers.
n

“th Congzress took nlace one vear 2fter the

oncernsd Tomultka, "'nd I «4ill wrerarmhersd the
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13 srout them, Thz ~ama
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2 gveter whare the government wac nart of it
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Chairmen of the Planning Commission. Nobody knew how much and when he

was to receive the ''envelope''. When the ''envelope'' would come in regu-
larly and contain a big amout of money, it was a good sign. If, on the
contrary they were not well provided and, besides, came in rarely, the po-
or man was unable to sleep, trying hard to find out where it was that he
has messed the things up... It may be worth adding that those receiving
the bonuses never signed any receipt. This then, was a successful whip in
the Premire's hands.

In that way, Jaroszewicz got a firm grip on his people. Since they were
more numerous and better prepared for work than Gierek's people, one can
say, and I would like to emphasize this, that it was not Gierek but Jaro-
szewicz who ruled over the economy. It is true that Gierek had his particu-
lar Central Committee Secretary for Economic Affairs, J.Szydlak, and that
there were several economic departments in the Central Committee, but they
were all far from being such old hands as the people from the Government
apparatus. Many people in these divisions, and, to begin with, Szydlak,
were simple diletantes and did not even have the data about the state of
economy. Contrary to the generally accepted opinion, assuming that it was
the Central Committee that controlled the Government, the truth proved to
be quite the contrary. Jaroszewicz forbade to provide the Central Committee
with data without his knowledge. One had to have relations in order to ob-
tain the needed information and, moreover, it was necessary to know what was
true and what was not. When working once in the Ministry of Foreign Trade,

I myself was specialized in writibg papers which were intended to deceive
the Central Committee... :

Thus, people thought that it was Gierek who ruled, but it was not so.

I even had the impression that Gierek did not like Jaroszewicz although,
outwardly, they were like two Siamese brothers.

On the other hand, I must admit that I had the impression Jaroszewicz
was more intelligent than Gierek. He was a professional teacher in the pre-
war period and, at that time, that did mean a lot. He had gone through ma-
ny hardships in the USSR and they were far less glorious than what his offi-
cial curriculum stated. Moreover, at the end of the war, he was Deputy Com-
mander of the First Polish Army, where he held the function of chief of
political division. This must have also enriched his life experience. Later,
already in the rank of general, he was Deputy Chairman of the State Planning
Commission and administered the armaments' production in the PPR.

His second wife, Alicja Solska, was a gifted and intelligent person and
worked as a journalist. Gierek's wife, Stanistawa, was way behind her. It
was moreover being said that Solska exercized a big influence on Jaroszewicz.
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Formally, Jaroszewickz was even the scond person after Gierek. When Gie-
rek was absent, it was Jaroszewicz who replaced him in the treatement of
Party questions. Even when Szlachcic, who was allegedly the second person
after Gierek, came to the Central Committee and remained in Warsaw during
Gierek's absences, it was Jaroszewicz who kept on taking over Gierek's ro-
le. It was not Szlachcic who presided over the Politburo debates, but Jaro-
szewicz. Szlachcic, at the most, presided over the debales of the Central
Committee's Secretariat. And, anyway, the ambitions of Szlachcic, quickly
came to an end and he became one of Jaroszewicz's Vice Premiers. I remember
when I later paid him a visit in a quiet office, almost in the attic of
the Bureau of the Cabinet, in the Ujazdowska Aleja in Warsaw...

Concerning Gierek's replacement by Jaroszewicz, I think it interesting
to say several words on this subject.

I think somewhere in August 1972, Gierek went for a holiday in Bulgaria
and, I, momentarily, replaced the Head of the Chancery of the Secretariat
of the Central Committee. Due to the fact that several other Politburo mem-
bers were also on their holidays, the debates of the Politburo and of the
Presidium of the Government /the difference between the Presidium and the
Council of Ministers is, that the former is composed of the Premier, his de-
puties and those ministers who, at the same time are members of the Polit-
buro/ were held jointly. Jaroszewicz presided over them and they took place
in the Building of the Bureau of the Cabinet in the Aleja Ujazdowska.

It was then that I met Jaroszewicz more closely, Before that I had only
observed him. This was to be my first direct contact with him. Szlachcic
was present in Warsaw, but it was Jaroszewicz who replaced Gierek.

My temporary function entitled me, as part of my duties, to prepare, joint-
ly with Jaroszewicz, the Politburo and Presidium debates. I was, beforehand,,
instructed to handle Jaroszewicz with kid gloves, because of his explosi-
veness.The warning did not impress me very much. I called Jaroszewicz di-
rectly from Gierek's office and it has not happened that he would answer
impolitely. On the contrary, he behaved with great courtesy.

The joint debates of the Politburo and the Government Presidium, presided
by Jaroszewicz, differed greatly from those presided by Gierek. Jaroszewicz
was far more demandi ng one everyone than was Gierek. And this, concerned
mainly those whom he had invited.

I shall describe on of such debates., I think it is wothwhile.

It was full summer in the midst of the harvest seasomp. In the PPR, as well
as in other ''Socialist'' countries, harvesting and sowing are not just nor-
mal tasks of the farmer. There are always ''harvesting campaigns'' and '‘'sowing
campaigns''. During those periods, all kinds of resolutions, appeals and
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other decisions are made. Field inspections are on the rampage and the mass
media are delirious about all these things.

I recall that during my nearly 4-year-long stay in the USA, between 1962
and 1966, I have never heard anything about sowing or harvesting. And some-
how it happened that this country was not only able to excellently feed it-
self, but it did not know what to do with the surplus of agricultural products.

It was all different in the PPR. They just simply tortured people with
these things, but the effects were somehow not to be seen. During sowing and
harvesting periods, one could become sick., From all parts, appeals, resolu-
tions, requests, supplications and hee only knows what, flooded the country.
This was supposed to make the campaign a ''success''. The food, was, of
course, more and more SCarce...

But let us return to the joint debate of the Politburo and the Presidium,
presided by Jaroszewicz. The developments of the current harvest campaign
were being discussed. It was already a tradition that the members of the
Politburo and the Government who were, at that time, present in Warsaw, ma-
de ''field inspections''. It was a hbit to show off who knew more and saw
more . M.,Jagielski, then Chairman of the State Planning Commission, boasted
that, the previous day, that is on Sunday, he had the time to visit four
voivodeships /provinces/ ! /That was still under the old administrative
structure./ Upon his return to Warsaw, he added with indignation, he had
found, near Wilanéw, a whole field of unmowed wheat. He then immediately sent
for a harvester to have it mowed., As I later learned, this was an experimen-
tal field of the Warsaw Agricultural Academy. They were conducting a research
to find out how long the seeds can stay in the earsa after these have rip-
pened... Well Jagielski did not know about it, but he still had to mingle
with it! Just as the others did, always and everywhere during their so-called
'*'field inspections*’'.

Now, to resume the previous subject.

When on the day of the meeting, I called Jaroszewicz,, I had the feeling
that someone was going to have it that day.

‘'~ You must absolutely bring Wrzasiﬁyk to the debate!'' He exclaimed ca-
tegorically. Although Wrzaszczy had previously excused himself for not being
able to assist the debate, I informed him that he wasﬁo attend the meeting.
But he got seriously scared and asked me to put him right with Jaroszewicsz
and to accept his Vice Minister Kopeé¢ at the debate.

And indeed, Kopeé was severely rebuked. I think, Jaroszewicz had been on a
vigit to the Wroclaw region, where he had observed the ''Bizon'' combine at
work., Unfortunately, some of the mechanical parts of the machine were brea-
king and falling apart and the combine was often broken. Jaroszewicz was
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highly irzdtated.

:1'- Listen, Comrade Kopeé! I invite you to provide good material for those
spare parts! What kind of junk is it that you give?!'' Shouted Jaroszewicz.

Kopeé, a huge, two-meter-tall guy, shrank and repeated only :

‘'~ Yes, Comrade Premier... Yes, Comrade Premier...''

Jaroszewicz, of course, had forgotted which spare parts were needed. And
how was Kopeé to know this? Jaroszewicz '‘'instructed'' him and Kopeé '‘'rea-
lized'' the instructions. Naturally, it did not occur to Jaroszewicz that,
with a construction fault, certain parts, if made of a more solid material,
were bound to break other parts. But then, who would remember such things?
The guilty had to be found and thrown the book at. Thus, the problem would be
solved. It was like this that he ''solved'' many other problems...

Those of the high state functionaries who were intelligent, never polemi-
zed. That would have meant suicide. They agreed with everything and then...
they didn't dp a thing, for there were other, new, problems... And, finally,
the one who listened and reoented was a '‘'good chap of the same flock''.
Well, true that he did sometimes err, so it was necessary to chastise him,
but still, he was of the same flock... After all, one day he would learn.

So, Kopeé would have been stupid, had he asked Jaroszewicz which spare
parts were concerned. This was also true of any other type of polemics.,

He would have been lost once and for all. But, behaing as he did, he even
managed to become Vice Premier and who knows where his ascension would have
ended, were it not for 'Solidarity' and other events.

One day, just after one of these joint debates, we were having kunch in
the Bureau of the Cabinet. Jaroszewicz seated me beside him. Opposite was
Jagielski. Prices of family houses were discussed and Jagielski was quoting
some laughingly low prices. He always had similar revelations.

However, he suddenly changed the theme of our discussion. He began shedding
tears over the losses the PPR suffers because of the sales of raw meat. He
proposed to make canned foods out of this meat. One could add some vegeta-
bles, spices, jelly and, oh, even some water and the metal for the can and
such a product could be sold at higher prices, perorated Jagielski.

Jaroszewicz was visibly interested. I was horror stricken when thinking
that they would be no more good meat to buy in the PPR, but just some lousy
cans whose quality was easy to foresee. Very sriously, I then told Jarosze-
wicz, that the latests British research indicated that growth in the consump-
tion of canned foods provoked hormonal disorders which could lead to ..
homosexuality. In reality, I think that I did read something of the sort
in 'The Economist' /the Central Committee received Western weeklies and month-

lies./
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Jaroszewicz reacted immediately. His voice, somewhat ironic and angry, he
thundered over the table to Jggielski :

‘'~ Hey, Mietek /Jagielski's first name/! Just don't you make faggots
out of us!...'' Everybody burst out laughing.

Jagielski suddenly became bashful and the whole affair fell through, I
felt relieved.

Today, Jaroszewicz, as well as Gierek, are not only waiting to be on trial,
but are also deprived of their membership of the Polish United Workers'
Party.

But are they more guilty that others? What about Jaruzelski, Olszowski,
Barcikowski? Or how about those who are no more in the Politburo or even the
Government but who remained in the PUWP, such as Jagielski or Jablonski, who
still fills the function of Chairman of the State Council? Did they ever op-
pose anything? Or, would they have been better if they were on the others'
places? Did they have another work style? Other conceptions? No, they have
never expressed anything of the sort or, at least, I have never heard anything
that would have led me to believe the contrary.

The system in which Gierek and Jaroszewicz acted created a strictly defi-
ned framework inside of which they had to find their place. Especially that,
it is a satellite system controlled from the exterior. A train rides on rails.
It cannot leave them at its own will., It can move faster or slower, it can
blow up or leave the rails, but is has a defined line and signalization signs.
0f course, one can not notice a closed semaphore or a twinkling red light.
For one can be completely blind or color blind, but as far as the route it-
self is concerned, there is no choice,..

I think, therefore, that none of the high dignitaries, whom I then obser=
ved, would have behaved differently from Gierek and Jaroszewicz. Maybe, they
would have even been worse., There was nobody who was better or more intelli-
gent. Kruczek who had no education at all, was the same as Jablonski, an
authentic professor, or as Jagielski, also a professor, although less authen-
tic. People with some knowledge were even worse that those without, for they
created a mirage of ''normality'' and of a ''scientific character'' of this
aborted system.

It was, as I said, a dance of puppets. I don't even know where some of the
ideas originated. One of such was the administrative reform of the country.
Letrus consecrate some time to it.

The whole affair began while I was in the Central Committee, but I was not,
at any stage, implicated in it. This was so, because of its non-economic cha-
racter, I presume. It was rather later, when I was already in Geneva, that

I had the opportunity of reading a lot about its genesis.
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But it is true that I had assisted, probably the first Politburo debate
which had ever discussed the question. To my great astonishment it was re-
ported by the already mentioned Minister J.Wieczorek. He went in for eve-
rything, even for the erection of monuments. But it did not enter my mind
that he would have taken up something like the administrative reform of
the PPR! '

From his report, I understood that, on the basis of communes, something
like '‘agro-towns'' will be created. Fach one was to be provided with se-
condary schools, a cinema,a health center and a series of other buildings
and institutions. The smaller administrative districts composing the voivo-
deships / the so-called ''powiaty''/ were to disappear, cities were to be-
come ‘'‘'urban'' and there were to be twice as many voivodeships. As a
passing remark, Wieczorek added, that the buildings for the new authori-
ties, were to cost about 35 billion zlotys or more...

There was practically no discussion on the gquestion. Babiuch only said
that they were to watch out that the new apparatus of the communal depart-
ments should not be better paid than the communal PUWP Secretaries.

Jaruzelski, on the other hand, was worried about something else. He said
that many officers who were to retire, would willingly accept the positions
of heads of communes. But the position, in Polish, is called ''wéjt'"',
and this, has a pejorative meaning in the army... I think that it was even
he who proposed the title of '‘chief of commune'' /'‘'naczelnik gminy''/.

And the affair eneded there, I later tried to make Gierek talk about it,
but, in this case, he did not even want to talk about it.

As I later learned, his behavior remained the same all along. Jablonski
tried to inquire somewhat about it, but Babiuch was to tell him that the
entire question had already been decided for and that there was nothing
to talk about. ‘

I could not understand the sense of this reform. It brought about much
confusion which, by the way, lasks to this very day. The costs were enor-
mous and they have not yet reached their end. What for was it introduced?

I don't know.

During the other Politburo debates, they toyed with all kinds of problems,
quite often with completely bizarre ohes.

For example, Vice Premier, Jan Mitrega /former Minister of Coal Mining/,
paid a visit to India. The Politburo decided to '‘'evaluate'' this visit.

Mitrega was no intellectual, He was an ''engineer'' of Gierek's type.

And so, he told incredible tales at the Politburo debate! He even said that
if India shall not solve the problem of coal extraction she will not be
able to move ahead.



